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FOREWORD

This paper was prepared by the Space Systems Division historical
office in answer to one of many requests for historical information
about the chain of events leading to the establishment of Los Angeles
Air Force Station. Although this summary account does not represent
a comprehensive history of these activities, it is fully documented and
complete within the strictures of the summary format. The paper has
proved to be quite useful as an internal reference source and publica-
tion in this form has been chosen to make it available for use on a
wider scale.

All documents cited in the footnotes are located in the archives of

the Historical Division, Office of Information, Space Systems Division,
Air Force Systems Command, at Los Angeles Air Force Station.

WDP :
January 1965
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When Western Development Division was organized in July 1954 to
accelerate the ballistic missile program, a handful of officers and
civilians worked in temporary offices in a former parochial school
building in the heart of downtown Inglewood, California. Ramo-Wooldridge
Corporation technical specialists and the Air Materiel Command's Special
Project Office shared the same offices with Western Development Division's
project officers. This physical proximity was required by the unconven-
tional nature of the management techniques to be utilized. The Air Force
itself, in accordance with the advice of the von Neumann Committee, had
assumed responsibility for system inte gration traditionally delegated to
the prime contractor. To assure valid systems engineering and technical
direction of associate contractor effort in the extremely complex program,
the Air Forcé employed the scientific and engineering capability of the
Ramo-Wooldridge Corporation. Air Force officers, civil service employees,
procurement specialists and contractor engineers sat side by side--or in
adjacent offices--to direct the nation's most important weapons development

effort. ''Collocation'" was essential to this massive technical undertaking.

As the scope of the program expanded and the organization grew, the
limited quarters became extremely crowded. The Ramo- Wooldridge
Corporation, acting in accordance with its contract to furnish materials
and service support as well as systems engineering and technical direction,
acquired larger and more efficient facilities. Thus, early in 1955 the
first of two buildings under construction on Arbor Vitae Street, a few

blocks west of Inglewood's city limits, was completed and occupied.

' Buildings Three and Four, constructed in close sequence to One and
Two (see accompanying map), were first leased by the Air Force but the -
high cost of leasing led to government purchase in the summer of 1955.
Later that year, the Ramo- Wooldridgé Corporation purchased approximately
40 acres on the southeast corner of El Segundo and Aviation Boulevards.
Although this location was about three miles south of the Arbor Vitae Street

offices, it was the closest practicable site available. Beginning in mid-1956,
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the facility called the Research and Development Center was constructed

there.

The decision to build additional facilities in El Segundo implied no
weakening in the policy of collocation of critical management elements.
It was, rather, a response to a rapidly increasing demand for more office
and laboratory space. Increasing numbers of military and civilian manage-
ment and contracting personnel, a parallel increase in systems engineering
and technical direction manpower, and expanding liaison offices located
within the complex--through 1957 this was the Arbor Vitae location--taxed

existing facilities to their limits. As mission assignments increased in

' number and ballistic missile development moved into operational planning

and early site activation activity, additional buildings were leased in the

Arbor Vitae area.

During 1957, Buildings One through Eight in the Arbor Vitae complex
were occupied by the various Air Force organizational elements, the
Ramo- Wobldridge Corporation, and its Guided Missile Research Division
(renamed Space Technology Laboratories during 1957). Western Develop-
ment Division (renamed Air Force Ballistic Missile Division on 1 June 1957)
had headquarters offices in Building Three, while the materiel command's
Ballistic Missiles Office made its headquarters in Building Four. Buildings
Six and Eight were completely occupied by Ramo- Wooldridge personnel

who also made up the major population of Buildings One and Two.

The Air Force Ballistic Missile Division's Deputy Commander for
Weapon Systems, responsible for the missile system program offices,
had major offices spread throughout Buildings Four and Five with the
supporting engineering and procurement contingents located in adjacent
offices. The Deputy Commander for Resources occupied Building Seven
and the offices of the Deputy Commander for Operations were divided
between Buildings Two and Four. Building Five was also utilized by
Ramo- Wooldridge technical people and the Air Force guidance specialists.
Through 1957 the division's installations group, growing rapidly as
preparations advanced for missile site selection and construction, utilized

Building Seven until Building Nine was acquired in December.

3






Other essential services and their offices were scattered about the complex
and there was a fairly constant movement of people and office locations as
new programs were assigned and the necessary new people added to the

population.

The national shock induced by the Russian Sputniks in late 1957 accel-
erated the pace of change. In January 1958 the Air Force Ballistic Missile
Division was relieved of operational planning for ballistic missiles and
responsibility for initial operational capability with the missiles in the field.
These tasks were 'assigned to the Strategic Air Command and the division
Deputy Commander for Operations, with his entire staff, was integrated
with the Strategic Air Command liaison office to form a new organization
designated SAC/MIKE. Fortunately, construction of the new "R&D Center"
was far enough advanced to permit Space Technology Laboratories to move
its staff from Building Eight to the new El Segundo offices and SAC/ MIKE

established its headquarters in the vacated building.

The R&D Center was completed in the Fall of 1958 and, although the
movement of some Space Technology Laboratories technical people to
their new offices temporarily relieved the extreme congestion in the
Arbor Vitae complex, it placed a strain on the principle of collocation.
The problem was solved by some Air Force offices moving into the R&D
Center while, at the same time, special care was taken to assure that

_system program offices retained their BMD/STL/BMO/SAC/MIKE inte-

grated management organization.

During 1958 Building 11 was built by the Air Force to house medical
and dental services and a cafeteria, and Building 12 was leased to accom-
" modate the comptroller, technical library and Space Technology Labora-
tories technical people. In 1959, Building Ten was leased as a warehouse
and the installations work of the division had increased so that it was
necessary to lease Building 13--the last acquired in the immediate

Arbor Vitae vicinity.

Thus, thirteen buildings (ten leased and three government owned)

were acquired during the period of temporary solutions. The urgency |




Scientific Ad

Dr. C. B. Miliken,

Management Structure

AF Ballisti Missile P

OSD Ballistic
Missiles Commitiee
M. W. M. Heleday, Chairmen

OSAF Ballistic

Missiles Commitiee
Sec. J K. Dovghn, Choirman

Hq USAF
Asst. C. Suft/Guided Missiies

b

Sellistic Missile Progrem Ast. To Commender
M:Ahl.m
Wesldridge Ballistic Missile Division
Rome-'
— :'?. Commender Baliietic Missiles Office

!
|

(cleo Asst. Te Comdr. ARDC
ferl-lhuem-uq

(el Ast. 1o Comdr. AMC
for Salletis Misilo

-en
—aORRe®
ppeer T Lol
PY Y Ll
et

"l—--.

] l
Othor Govt. Agunddes ARDC Canters
Bapt. of lnterier [T APIC SMAMA
A domy areac avac waANC WRAMA OCAMA ”“"“m




- e

of the mission assignment demanded office and laboratory space. It was
difficult, however, to visualize a long term solution to the housing problem
due to uncertainty as to the scope or duration of the ballistic missile and
space missions. Meanwhile costs and inefficiencies associated with
scattered facilities mounted. The yearly leased facilities budget reached
nearly $800, 000 in 1960 and was scheduled to exceed $1, 000, 000. Of
necessity the principle of collocation was now frequently breached.
Although the highest priority programs were managed by tightly integrated
cadres of responsible project officers, engineering specialists, and pro-
curement experts, the normal day-to-day business was subjected to
greater stress. Communication between offices and people was hampered
by an increasing number of impediments, an intra division bus system
operated between the far flung offices, special communications lines were
necessary, and an augfnented guard force was necessary to maintain

security, all adding to increased costs and accumulated delays. 1

The facilities difficulty may be emphasized in another way be noting
manpower totals illustrated in the accompénying charts. Rapid growth
in the number of people engaged in the ballistic missile development enter-
prise was not matched by a corresponding expansion of facilities. On
1 January 1959 ballistic missile division personnel at work totaled 1, 213;
the materiel command's contracting and logistic planning force numbered
378; and there were 145 people in the planning office of the strategic
command for a total of 1, 736 Air Force personnel. In addition, 3,080
Space Teéhnology Laboratories engineering and support personnel were

housed in the various offices.

In the spring of 1959, realizing that long term planning offered the
only hope for a permanent solution, the commander appointed a committee
to investigate the division's facility requirements. The committee con-
ducted a thorough review of the problem but, due to sorme temporarily
unsettling mission assignments, had to leave its work unfinished. A fresh
start was made in the fall of 1959 with the appointment of a full time

Long Range Facility Committee to study and recommend a future permanent

“location for the ballistic and space development division on the assumption
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that an Air Force development organization would remain on the West
Coast. Several locations were studied, recommended, and eventually
rejected--a process that occasionally reached the Air Force secretariat
level. Sites that were promising but unacceptable for one reason or
another included Los Alamitos Naval Air Station (since the Air Force was
planning to close down a number of active bases it seemed very unlikely
that approval could be obtained to acquire a new base), located a few miles
east of Long Beach, California; Navy owned property and buildings located
on the northwest corner of El Segundo and Aviation Boulevards; and

80 acres of vacant land located near the southwest corner of the same inter-
section. On 26 August 1960, while search and study continued, the

Air Force Ballistic Missile and Space Committee reviewed the Los Angeles
facilities problem and suggested that the division consider Norton Air

Force Base at San Bernardino, California, and March Air Force Base at
Riverside, California (both about 70 miles east of Los Angeles) as possible
permanent home sites. The local committee concluded that in each

instance base facilities were unsuitable to house all the ballistic missile and

space program management offices.

But the necessity to do something about obtaining additional quarters
was approaching a crisis. On 9 July 1960, the Air Force had responded
to acute missile site activation problems by assigning the responsibility
for all site activation work to the materiel command. After July 1960
the ballistic missile division retained executive management responsibility
for development of the systems while the materiel command's Ballistic
Missiles Center, sharing the same total office space with the division,
was responsible for site activation. The most significant impact of this
change on the facilities problem was the addition of about 800 more
workers to the missile development complex, which by now was barely

able to contain the 7, 600 people already there.

Moreover, the new responsibility for the Ballistic Missiles Center
of the materiel command created for the first time ". . . two management
missions of highest national urgency within the complex, which though

related involve separate organizations which are competing for management

11



attention and resources.' The inevitable result was ''serious organization
tensions. . . aggravated by the lack of physical space to accommodate the

rapid buildup of personnel for the overall site activation task. "

In anticipation of this difficulty the Air Force vice chief of staff had
directed the materiel and research coMands to thresh out the problem
and come up with a plan to relocate those elements of the complex that
did not require close coordination with Space Technology Laboratories.
A plan of action was to be worked out by 26 September 1960, a deadline
that allowed little time to solve a problem which had defied solution for
nearly two years. Under the circumstances the choice of Norton AFB as
an alternate location gained increasing support. In early September,
Brigadier General W. E. Leonhard, the missile division's deputy commander
for facilities, Presented to mémbe:s of the air staff a plan for mo&ing

San Bernardino base. 5

As more thought was given to the relocation problem, the advantages
of the Proposed move to Norton Air Force Base became increasingly
attractive. General Schriever, in a letter to the Air Force chief of staff
on 23 September 1960, clearly stated that such a separation offered the
opportunity to restore ". . . the singleness of purpose and cohesiveness of
management. . . mandatory for the aggressive translation of technology
into space capabilities of importance to national security. . . ." Schriever
endorsed the Proposal that contemporary ballistic missile Programs be
moved from the Inglewood complex to San Bernardino ""as rapidly as Possible. '
Furthermore, said Schriever, Program management responsibility should

Action was not long in coming. On 29 September the Air Force vice
chief of staff ordered the site activation management task . , . immediately
relocated to San Bernardino where the current ballistic missile pProgram
can be accommodated on a phased basis, ' adding that the Inglewood complex
would ultimately ". . . become the permanent focal point and be strongly

identified as the USAF military space development agency. '

12



19jus) juewrdoreas( pue Yyoaeesay




Air Force acquisition of title to the R&D Center was a more prolongéd
effort. Agreement was reached on a price of $23, 500, 000 and Aerospace
Corporation leased the R&D Center from STL for a negotiated sum of ‘
$185, 800 per month until title finally passed to the Air Force (December 1960).
In return, STL was furnished space at the R&D Center for its people who
were still working on Air Force programs while moving quickly to vacate
several R&D Center buildings, lease other office space and begin planning

construction of a new center.

It was the hope--soon patently clear a hope that was not to be realized--
that all of the development management effort could be housed at the R&D
Center or at the Arbor Vitae location. As early as the fall of 1960 the
pressure for additional room was'building up. Although the plan to move
some elements to Norton Air Force Base had been approved,. the base was
not yet prepared to accept significant numbers of people and the problem
of their support was not fully resélved. Immediate solutions were necessary
and in the fall of 1960 additional buildings were leased, a maximum of
12 additional buildings by mid-1961. In addition 90 large trailers were
rented and parked at the two complexes to furnish additional office space.

By this time, buildings were scattered throughout a 56 square mile area

in Inglewood, Hawthorne, Lawndale, Torrance, and southwest Los Angeles.
Inefficient use of technical personnel and degraded supervision of develop-
ment programs resulted and, except for the highest priority programs, the

Principle of collocation could no longer be practiced.

At the beginning of 1961 the solution of facilities problems had
reached a plateau for the moment through temporary expedients combined
with plans for moving elements of the missile development complex to
Norton AFB. There remained, however, complex considerations which
delayed any significant movement to Norton Air Force Base for another
year and a half. Development management activity and procurement
actions had been carried on in close Proximity in Los Angelés, utilizing
accelerated decision making procedures designed to shorten ac.quisition

time. Movement of contractual and pProcurement functions to San Bernardino

15
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was reviewed with increasing alarm not only by the space system program
offices but by missile system managers who were not yet ready to transfer

management to the materiel command.

Further complications were introduced with the J anuary 1961 change
of national administration. On 28 January 1961 newly appointed Secretary
of the Air Force E. M. Zuckert called a Pentagon conference of key
civilian and military leaders in the Air Force. Already informed about
major problem areas confronting any new definition of Air Force policies,
Zuckert wanted to give Secretary of Defense R. S. McNamara a realistic
appraisal of the Air Force's capability to meet new demands on its resources.
During the review process, one of the critical issues was the necessity of,

~and means for, insuring continued emphasis on attaining full operational

capability with the ballistic missile force in the shortest pPossible time. 10

On 6 March 1961, the Secretary of Defense resolved a long standing
ambiguity by assigniﬁg to the Air Force responsibility for development
of all new military space systems. Assumption of this mission was accom-
Panied by a major Air Force functional realignment. On 17 March 1961,
public announcement was made of sweeping changes . . . designed to
centralize direction of the ballistic missile pPrograms and to insure the
most effective discharge of those military space responsibilities assigned

to the Air Force. "

The former Air Research and Development Command was placed in
control of the entire Weapon system acquisition Process with the new name
of Air Force Systems Command and the additional functions of procurement
and production picked up from the old Air Materiel Command. In the Pplace
of the materiel command, an Air Force Logistics Command was created to
furnish, as its name suggested, logistic support to the Air Force. Within
the systems command new divisions were organized, with perhaps the
greatest impact of the command reorganization felt at the missile development
complex in Los Angeles. The Air Force Ballistic Missile Division and
Ballistic Missiles Center were discontinued and out of the resources were
created two new organizations, Space Systems Division and Ballistic

Systems Division. To insure utmost response and close control in these

17



two prime areas of interest, a Deputy Commander for Aerospace Systems
was established in Los Angeles to act for the Commander, Air Force

Systems Command. 12

While the reorganization was going on, the projected move to Norton
Air Force Base at San Bernardino was not forgotten. On 1 May 1961,
the Secretary of the Air Force ruled: "After careful consideration, it
has been determined that the entire Ballistic Missile Sic] Systems
Division should move to Norton Air Force Base on a planned phase basis
beginning at the earliest Practicable date. " (Some elements of the Atlas
and Titan program offices had already relocated to the base in accordance
with existing plans.) Further moves were delayed pending the availability
of base facilities capable of accommodating approximately 2, 000 more
employees. A plan to remodel an existing warehouse for office space and
to provide Aerospace Cofpora.tion support at the new iocation delayed
the move of the Ballistic Systems Division until June and July of 1962. 13

Thus over a year passed before the basic objectives involved in
establishing a single space agency were totally realized. The close
association of the two divisions in Los Angeles directly under the Deputy
Commander for Aerospace Systems was generally considered to be a
transitional pattern of organization. By May 1962, a plan was effected to
furnish the two divisions with normal support functions and staff services
(such as information, comptroller and personnel) earlier allocated to the
6592d Support Wing and by 1 June each division was autonomous with one
prepared to relocate at Norton Air Force Base and the other to remain

at its Lios Angeles location. 14

When the two divisions were established on 1 April 1961, headquarters
of the Space Systems Division was located at the R&D Center and, until the
move to Norton Air Force Base, the Ballistic Systems Division remained
at Arbor Vitae with the deputy commander offices. When the move to
Norton was completed, most of the Space Systems Division headquarters
staff moved to Arbor Vitae ( Building One) and Aerospace Corporation was
able to consolidate the bulk of its offices at the R&D Center. Even with this

18
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significant improvement in available office space, the Principle of
collocation was still difficult to Practice and the three mile separation
between the Arbor Vitae complex and the R&D Center was inherently

inefficient. -

Since 1959 the ballistic missile and space organizations had maintained
2 continuous search for a permanent solution to the housing problem. By
December 1960 an initial 672 government owned facilities within eleven
western states had been screened as possible sites. Most were found wanting

in many essentialg-- availability of technical manpower being critical--and

' none were adequate without additional high cost construction of new offices

and laboratories. As the Problem was continuously reviewed, the obvious
conclusion seemed to be that the best location for the Air Force's ballistic
missile and space development effort was in the Los Angeles area near

the R&D Center. The area's advantages: the favorable labor market, the
center of scientific and technical talent, and availability of transportation

and communications could not be lightly ignored.

In any case, by January 1961, the ballistic missile division had reduced
a host of possible choices to the following recommended alternatives:
(1) Acquire Douglas Aircraft Company property in Lawndale,located a mile
and one-third directly south of the R&D Center. The Property included
two buildings, 80 and 81, on 40 acres of land which Douglas offered in
trade for part Payment on Air Force Plant 15 at Long Beach, California;
(2) negotiate a 10 to 20 year lease for the McDonald Building (between
Buildings Five and Six in the Arbor Vitae Complex) on 96th Street with
option to buy as soon ag funds were available; (3) build a new Building 14
on land adjacent to the McDonald Company; (4) build one or two buildings
on the Bellanca Avenue Parking lot (Arbor Vitae area); (5) attempt to acquire
other buildings as required to meet anticipated increases in the spécé
division's manpower. The most desirable of these limited alternatives--
in terms of Air Force ownership as opposed to continued leasing of widely
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acquired by the government. Plans were made to move some 500 Space
Systems Division personnel from the Arbor Vitae complex to temporary
quarters in Building 81. This Wwas to be their office home for approximately
five months, after which they would move into the R&D Center with Aerospace
Corporation and other Ajr Force personnel while Building 81 was modified.
The rehabilitated building, modified to accommodate some 1, 500 employees,
would ultimately become the headquarters for Space Systems Division with
Aerospace Corporation headquartered in the R&D Center. 15

These plans were contingent on obtaining approval for the required
modification of the buildings being acquired from Douglas. Although
design of the modifications was completed in April and the cognizant con-
gressional committee had approved Air Force acquisition of the Property,
innumerable reviews, re-evaluations, and re-submissions delayed final

approval until late in 1961. At year's end, designs were virtually complete

81 was still intertwined with the question of a Peérmanent location for
segments of the deputy commander's office, scheduled to remain in Los
Angeles. One of the alternatives presented to the Secretary of the Air

Force in May 1961 had been the construction of three--later reduced to
two--more office buildings on the Douglas Lawndale site to form a permanent
complex which would house 4, 000 to 4, 500 personnel. A proposal for thig
construction was drawn up and submitted to command headquarters in

July and, although approved at that level, the recommendation was rejected

by Air Force headquarters reviewing authority. 1

For the first five months of 1962 the division's long range housing
plans were temporarily laid aside while detailed Planning for the Ballistic
Systems Division move to Norton Air Force Base was undertaken. A new
start was made in May 1962 when the division resubmitted a fiscal 1964
military construction pProgram for the Lawndale site. The cost for mod-
ification was estimated to be $3, 200, 000 and $12, 000, 000 was requested

for two multi-story office buildings.
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In June 1962, a way was opened for further consolidation of division
facilities in the vicinity of the government-owned R&D Center. The
Department of the Navy granted the Air Force pPermission to use four
buildings at the Douglas El Segundo site, directly across the street.

The permit was issued as an interim measure anticipating transfer of the

entire requested 50 acres of land and buildings to the Air Force. 18-

As matters stood in October 1962, a relief from housing problems
appeared imminent. Trailers were no longer necessary at Arbor Vitae,
leases on Building 72 (a building in Torrance which was returned to the
Navy), 70, 75, 77, 78 and 79 were cancelled. The Lawndale site was to
be modified by March 1963, making space for 1, 500 people in Buildings 80
and 81 in addition to the 3, 500 already located in the R&D Center. Construc-
tion of new buildings at the Lawndale site would expand office capacity
by another 2, 500 people by July 1965. This would then permit release of
all leased space, finally placing all elements of the division and Aerospace
Corpci)ration in the Navy El1 Segundo site, the R&D Center or the Lawndale
site.

This plan of action left two major problems unsolved. Collocation of
Air Force program managers with Aerospace Corporation supporting
elements--the management principle upon which the working relationship
was predicated--could not be totally effected; and, although the total
solution was less costly and more integrated than existing arrangements,
anticipated growth would require not only the $3, 200, 000 for remodeling
but an additional $12, 000, 000 for new construction. -

Aerospace Corporation was especially interested in a solution to the
housing problem which would permit the two elements to maintain their
respective identities and yet occupy contiguous quarters. A portion of the
large land area just west of the R&D Center which had invited earlier
Air Force inquiry regarding avaiia.bility from its owner, Standard Oil
Company, was now available for purchase. This unexpected circumstarnce
Produced another very attractive alternative and re-opened the question of

@ permanent Space Systems Division location. ‘Thus, by mid-September 1962,

22



four alternate plans confronted deputy commander Lieutenant General

H. M. Estes, Jr. The first of these plans suggested the possibility of
acquiring the unimproved acreage immediétely west of the R&D Center--
across Aviation Boulevard- -for a building site; the second Proposed
construction of new buildings on the Douglas El Segundo property to augment
Buildings 80 and 81 at the Lawndale site; the third advocated carrying out
the Lawndale site construction program and occupancy as planned; and the
fourth sugéested use of the R&D Center, Buildings 80 and 81, and the

Arbor Vitae complex. The first three Plans would permit release of all
buildings in the Arbor Vitae area with the exception of government owned
Buildings Three, Four and 11. 20 On 21 September, General Estes and

Dr. Ivan A. Getting, President of Aerospace Corporatiqn, appointed a

Jjoint Air Force-Aerospace Corporation Facilities Utilization Planning
Committee composed of two representatives from each organization. They
were assigned the task of recommending the most efficient allocation of
space between the R&D Center, the Arbor Vitae complex, and Building 80
until such time as a final decision was made and Peérmanent quarters became
available. The main task, however, was to reécommend one of four plans
for ". .. Air Force/Aerospace Corporation facilities in the Los Angeles
area during the next four years.' In general these were the same plans or
variations of the plans Previously prepared for General Estes. The committee
was to recommend a Plan to the division and Aerospace Corporé,tion by

12 October 1962. 21

Possibly anticipating the committee's recommendation, Dr. Getting
pointed out in early October that certain elements nhecessary for a final
solution of the location p‘foblem appeared to be falling into place. The
Standard Oil property which was unavailable in the fall of 1960, and the
Douglas E1 Segundo property which the Navy had insisted it needed, were
now both available. The Standard Oil property had been sold to the Utah
Construction and Mining Company which was willing to sell to the Aerospace
Corporation (through a third party) and the Navy was in the process of
turning over 50 acres of the Douglas El Segundo property to the Air Force.
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In addition, Aerospace was most reluctant to accept the Lawndale location
as part of the solution insofar as its own operations were concerned and
much preferred that ". . . the Air Force headquarters and other operations
associated with our technical activity be close to Aerospace. ' Therefore
Dr. Getting Proposed construction of

- - « buildings across Aviation Boulevard on the Utah property.
These buildings would be planned to be ready essentially as

engineering subdivisions (the non-collocated part of the
Engineering Division).

Furthermore, it was pointed out, the former Navy EI Segundo pProperty
would furnish service facilities with ample potential for future expansion.
All other office and warehouse facilities could be released Permitting
significantly lower operational costs and the entire Air Force development

effort could be consolidated in a closely knit management center.

This increasingly attractive Proposal was accepted by the Space
Systems Division in the face of obvious problems in obtaining the plan's
rapid approval. The plan was approved by Air Force Systems Command
officials and immediately forwarded to the air staff and secretariat for

* their study and, hopefully, approval. Meanwhile, Air Force headquarters

requested the division to withhold award of the rehabilitation contract

for the two Lawndale buildings until the air staff could study and recommend
an appropriate secretarial decision on the total problem. At the same time
Space Systems Division and Aerospace Corporation were requested to
undertake a joint study to determine comparative costs of the Proposed
Plans, savings in lease termination anticipated by adopting a particular

plan, growth potential of each Proposal and the pProposed use of government
owned buildings at Arbor Vitae and Lawndale by the Air Force or other
government agencies in the area. It would be necessary to secure

". . . evidence of positive interest from government activities in Los Angeles

to occupy buildings 3, 4, 11 at Arbor Vitae and buildings 80 and 81 at

Lawndale. " Obviously, acceptability of the Aerospace Corporation/ Air Force .
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proposal hinged largely on the demand for the buildings the Air Force
now owned and would no longer need if the the Aerospace Corporation

building pr.oposal was approved. 23

An important element favoring prompt approval was the conviction
that as the Space Systems Division emerged as an autonomous organization
with a vital national mission it was desirable that it be furnished a single
facility. In addition, management efficiency would be substantially
increased while reduction of support costs in transportation, building
leases, and time lost in travel would produce further tangible savings.

The proposed plan also offered the considerable advantage of not requiring
additional government construction funds. The four new buildings, which
the Aerospace Corporation would finance out of earned corporate fees,
would eliminate the need for rehabilitation of Buildings 80 and 81 and
construction of the new buildings that were planned for the Lawndale site.
The three government-owned buildings in the Arbor Vitae complex would
be occupied by the Los Angeles Contract Management District at a savings
of $182, 000 annually over their current leage arrangements and a prospect
existed for sale of the Lawndale property by the General Services
Administration. 24

In early November, approval of the air staff wag passed to the
Secretary of the Air Force. The secretary had already indicated that he
favored the proposal, Providing assurance of a plan for disposal of the
Lawndale site and the assent of congressional interests could be obtained.
Commercial interest in the Lawndale site was strong enough to raise a
reasonable expectation of sale at the appraised value of $3. 5 million. 25

On 8 November 1962, all conditions for approval of the division's
Plan for permanent facilities having been satisfactorily met, Secretary
of the Air Force E. M. Zuckert agreed that Aerospace Corporation should
Proceed with the building plan. The General Services Administration was
instructed to reject all bids for the rehabilitation of Buildings 80 and 81
and prepare for sale of the pProperty. The immediate result of adopting

the plan for a permanent location of the division was to require interim
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allocation of available office space until such time as Aerospace Corporation
could occupy its new buildings. In addition, release of all outlying leased
buildings and removal of the last office trailers was to proceed as rapidly

as possible. By the last of November Aerospace Corporation's Systems
Research and Planning Division moved into the Arbor Vitae area buildings
(Three, Four and Five) and Air Force Program offices moved into the

R&D Center to be collocated with parallel Aerospace program offices.

The Aerospace Corporation immediately embarked on the complicated
details of land acquisition and preparation of building pléns.

The corporation, under a lease-option arrangement, acquired 31 acres
of land valued at $2, 406, 986 and construction of the four buildings began
in February 1963 with the first building ready for occupancy by November
1963. All the buildings (three office~laboratory buildings and a library,
total 353, 435 square feet) were completed by April 1964 at a total cost
of $12, 569, 104, including land and site preparation expenses. 27 As rapidly
as the new buildings were completed, Aerospace Corporation personnel
vacated R&D'Center and Arbor Vitae buildings to move into their new
quarters. At the same time, Space Systems Diw}ision offices at Arbor Vitae
were 'relocated to the R&D Center and support activities began moving into

the former Navy El Segundo buildings as they were rehabilitated.
Summary

The perspective afforded by time makes possible several observa-
tions regarding the history of the facilities problem in Los Angeles which
might not be obvious at first glance. For instance, a distinct pattern of
three phases within the ten years since 1954 eémerges. The first five years
of operation, Principally in leased buildings, was a Period during which the
overriding u}gency of the mission to be performed tended to make all other
problems insignificant. Working quarters were obtained by the most
rapid and effective means--through leases by the support contractor

when purchase was impossible or untimely. A degree of stability appeared
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in early 1959 when the 13 buildings of the Arbor Vitae complex plus the
R&D Center provided relatively adequate facilities. No Permanent solution
was yet possible, largely because the future of the Air Force organizations
in the complex was not sufficiently clear to encourage a firm commitment

to permanent facilities plans.

In the late summer of 1960 another crisis arose when responsibility
for the total strategic missile site activation program was consolidated
at the Los Angeles complex. The deployment and emplacement of ballistic
missiles proved to be a much more difficult task than first imagined, and
the urgency even greater. A particular reason for concern was the missile
gap of that year; whether real or illusory, it clearly stimulated a significant
acceleration in the missile emplacement schedule. Large numbers of
additional people were housed in a new lot of leased buildings and office
trailers which were accumulated between August 1960 and April 1961.
Personnel were widely dispersed over the metropolitan area, but there

Wwas no other practicable solution at the time.

Movement of the Ballistic Systems Division out of Los Angeles during
the summer of 1962 encouraged planning for a long-term solution. The
third phase, beginning with the approval of Aerospace Corporation's
building plans in November 1962 and contiriuing to the present, is character-
ized by the release of leased buildings and trailers as rapidly as functions

can be consolidated on government owned property.

The location and arrangement of facilities for the Air Force missile
and space development functions in Los Angeles has largely been determined
by the management concepts employed in the highly successful missile and
space programs. The original missile development complex was purposefully

and technical direction with Air Force People to create the most effective

. working relationships possible. This Principle, called collocation, has

been a major contribution to the success of the missile and space development
Program and a governing factor in consideration of all pPossible solutions
to the long-term facilities problem.
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APPENDIX A

Key Dates by Building Number

Buildiﬁng Acquired
1 Nov 1956
2 Jul 1954
3 Jun 1955
4 Jun 1955
5 Dec 1955
6 Nov 1956
7 Dec 1955
8 Oct 1953
9 .Dec 1957

10 May 1959
11 May 1958
12 Jul 1958
13 Feb 1959
70 Oct 1960
71 Aug 1960
72 Aug 1960
73 Aug 1960
74 Oct 1960
75 Oct 1960
76 Dec 1960
77 Mar 1961
78 Apr 1961
79 Apr 1961
Office

Trailers Mar 1961

80 and 81 Feb 1961

Douglas

El Segundo Jun 1962

Disposition
——ronton

Subleased - May 1964
Subleased - June 1964

Government owned.

Government owned.

Leased by Aerospace Corp. until Jan 1966
Leased by Aerospace Corp. until Nov 1971 .
Released - Feb 1964

Converted to Government lease in Oct 1963 (two years)
Leased by Aerospace Corp. until Nov 1964 -
Released - April 1964

Government owned. ‘

Leased by Aerospace Corp. until Jul 1968
Leased by Aerospace Corp. until Feb 1969

Released - Feb 1962
Released - Jun 1963
Released - Feb 1962
Released - Jun 1963
Released - Jul 1964
Released - Jul 1962
Released - Dec 1962
Released - Sep 1962
Released - Feb 1962
Released - Jan 1962

Last 53 released - Dec 1962

Leased until Oct 1961 when acquired by General
Services Administration. Used under Air Force
Permit to Use until Dec 1962 when Air Force
released back to GSA.

Government owned property, Air Force Permit
to Use from Navy from June to Oct 1962 when
the property was transferred to the Air Force.
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APPENDIX B

CHRONOLOGY - Facilities Acquisition Events

1954 Jul  Leased Building Two |
1955 Jun Purchaseq Buildings Three and Four | |
Dec Leased Buildings Five and Seven
1956 Nov Leased Buildings One ang Six
1957  Dec Leased Building Nine |
1958 May Construction completed on Building ;'.Ele'vv__'e'n. ‘Government owned
Jul Leased Building Twelve
1959 Feb Leased Euilding Thirteen
May Leased Building Ten o '
1960 Jan After extensive study--during 1959..of the possible alterna-
tives for a permanent location for the Ballistic Missile
Division, the Commander Air R.esea_,rcha..nd' Development "
Technology Laloratories' role in relation to the Air Force
Jun Aerospace Corporation formed as a noﬁ-profit company to
‘ perform systems engineering, technical direction, and

technical support for advanced missile and 8pace programs.

Jul  The ballistic missile division reéuested Air Research and

purchase of the R&D Center itself, and selection of this from
among several prospective sites as a permanent home facility
--2 decision was deferred.
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1960

1961

Aug

Aug'

Aug

Oct
Dec

Dec

Dec

Dec

Jan

' Feb

‘Mar

Mar

The Air Force Ballistic Missile Committee was briefed on
long range facility requirements with emphasis on acquisi-
tion of the Standard Oil property. Briefing was centered
around comparative cost of Providing new facilities on thig
property versus use of Los Alamitos Naval Air Station. The
committee deferred action on this Plan and suggested Norton
and March Air Force Bases be studied as possible sites.

The Navy-owned Torrance facility, consisting of three
buildings (71, 72 and 73) was obtained by the Air Force on
a five year permit to use from the Department of the Navy
to provide space for additional Ajr Force and Army Corps
of Engineers personnel. This influx of personnel was due
to increased missile site activation responsibility assigned
to the complex.

The B-4 hangar was acquired on License to Use from the
Department of the Navy. This facility was acquired to

. Support the missile division administrative flying and train-
ing operations.’ ' o ’

Leased Buildings 70, 74, and 75. °

Purchase by the Air Force of the Research and 'Developi-hent
Center from Space Technology Laboratories. This site was
the home of the new Aerospace Corporation. :

Standard Oil sold El Segﬁndo property to the Utah Construc-

- tion and Mining Company.

Leased Building 76.

Douglas Aircraft Comipany offered to trade their Lawndale
facility (Buildings 80 and 81) to the government as part
Payment for purchase of the'Air_Fbrce'Long Beach Plant
No. 15. ' T

e

The ballistic missile division requested approval for acquisi-

tion of the Douglas Lawndale property to provide facility
potential and adequate land for long term needs.

Léasg negotiated with Douglas for period of one year to

use Lawndale property (Buildings 80 and 81).

“Air Force headquarters submitted acquisition request for

the Douglas Lawndale site to the House and Senate Armed
Services Committees.

Leased Building 77 and 72 trailers.

30



t

1961 Apr Reorganization creating the Air Force Systems Command
with Deputy Commander for Aerospace Systems located in
Los Angeles over Ballistic Systems Division and Space
Systems Division.

Apr Leased Building 78 and 79.
Apr Approval received for acquisition of Douglas Lawndale property.

May Project for modification of Buildings 80 and 81 as Space
Systems Division headquarters submitted to AFSC for approval.

Jul  Leased 18 additional trailers for use at Arbor Vitae facility.
Oct  General Services Administration obtained the Douglas
Lawndale Property and issued it to the Air Force on a Permit
'to use, pending the official transfer to the Air Force.
1962 Jan Building 79 released.
Feb Buildings 70 and 78 released.

Feb Building 72 at Torrance facility returned to the Department
of the Navy. ‘ , :

Jun Permit to use four buildings at the Douglas El Segundo site
issued by the Navy. This permit was issued as an interim

measure pending transfer of the requested 50 acres of land
and associated buildings to the Air Force. .

Jul  Building 75 released.

Jul  Movement of the Ballistic Systems Division to Norton Air
Force Base began.

Jul ~ The B-4 hangar transferred from the Navy to the Air Force.
~ Sep Building 77 released.
.' Seﬁ Bids for modification of Buildings 80 and 81 opeﬁed.
Sep 18 leased trailers from Arbor Vitae complex released.

Sep Major pPortion of Ballistic Systems Division move to Norton
Air Force Base completed. :

Oct General Services Administration permit to use Buildings 80
and 81 site extended to October 1963.
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1962

1963

1964

1964

Oct

Oct
Nov

Nov

Dec-

‘Dec

Dec

Dec
Jan

Feb

Jun

Oct

Nov

Feb

Apr
Apr

Jun

Proposed long range plans for ultimate location of Space
Systems Division and Aerospace Corporation Presented to

Air Force Systems Command headquarters, Air Force
headquarters, and the Office of the Secretary of the Air Force.

Douglas E1 Segundo site transferred from Navy to Air Force.
Proposed facility solution, includihg construction of new
Aerospace Corporation buildings. at El Segundo site, approved
by the Secretary of the Air Force as "consistent with Ajr
Force plans. . : . -

Aerosfak:e Corporatioﬁ acquired the El Segundo Property and
began building plans. ' : .

53 of the 70 office trailers at the R&D Center released.

Building 76 released.

Buildings 80 and 81 (Lawndale site) permit to use cancelled
and property returned to the General Services Administration.

Building Nine lease renewed for two yeé.:is,.

Balance of office trailers released.

Construction of Aerospace Corporation's -El Segundo buildings

- began. o

Buildings 71 and 73-returned to Naxiy.

remain there for two more years until development of the
El Segundo support site., ,

First occupancy of Aerospace Corporation's new El Segundo
buildings.
Building Seven released.

Angeles Air Force Station and was transferred from an
industrial facility to a command facility (AFSC).

Research and Development Center was redesignated Los

Aerospace Corporation's El Segundo facilities completed.
Building Ten released.
Building One subleased.

Building Two subleased.
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FOOTNOTES

(All documents cited in the footnotes are located in
Space Systems Division Historical Office files.)

1. History of DCAS, 1961, "Working Space" PP 19-23, June 1962;
Report, Summary of Move Plans in Compliance with SAF Directive of
8 May 1961, presented 22 May 1961 by Hq DCAS; Itr, Col W. R. Morton,

Cmdr, 6592 Support Gp, to MajGen O. J. Ritland, Cmdr, AFBMD,
11 Jan 1961, subj: Long Range Facility Briefings. _

2. Program Schedules and Data, Manpower Charts, 31 Jan 1959,

Prepared by AFBMD. : ‘ _

3.  Ltr, Morton to Ritland, 11 Jan 1961; DeHaven, Ethyl, Aerospace--
- The Evolution of USAF Weapons Acquisition Policy, Aug 1962: ‘

4, Ltr, LtGen B. A. Schriever, Cmdr, ARDC, to Gen T. D. White,

CofS USAF, 23 Sep 1960, no subj. ,

5. Ltr, Morton to Ritland, 11 Jan 1961; msg, AFCVC 82197, Hq USAF,

to ARDC, 31 Aug 1960.

6. Ltr, Schriever to White, 23 Sep 1960.

7. Msg, AFCVC 89501, Hq USAF, to AFBMD, 29 Sep 1960.

8. Rpt, Long Rangé Facilities, 14 Oct 1960, prepared by AFBMD; 1tr

Col J. C. Bogert, Ch, Mgmt Contracts Div, Dir of Plans, AFBMD, to

W. C. Blaisdell, Dep Comptroller (Financial and Operating Mgmt), Ofc
of Asst Sec (Comptroller), OSD, 12 Oct 1960, subj: Reasoning Behind

the Urgency to Purchase Space Technology Laboratories, Inc. Research
and Development Center; rpt, Documents Describing Reorientation of
STL's Contractual Relationship with the Ajr Force, 23 Jun 1960, Prepared
by AFBMD.

9. Rpt, Documents. . ., 23 Jun 1960; rpt, Long Range Facilities,
14 Oct 1960. '

10. Memo for Record, BrigGen R. D. Curtin, Dir, Ofc of Msl and
Satellite Sys, SAF, 20 Jan 1961, no sub;. :

11. Working Papers on Reorganization, 1961; msg, RDE 17-3.54,
Hq ARDC, to all ARDC, 17 Mar 1961. '
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12. History of DCAS, 1961, Jun 1962; msg RDE-17-3-54, Hq ARDC to
all ARDC, ar .

13. Memo, E. M. Zuckert, SAF, to CofS, USAF, 1 May 1961, no subj.
14. Opns Ord 61-4, Hq AFSC, 1 Apr 1961.
15. History of DCAS, 1961, Jun 1962; ltr, MajGen J. R. Holzapple

Asst Dep Cmdr for Aerospace Systems, to I. A. Getting, Pres, Aerospace
Corp, 6 Jun 1961, subj: Use and Occupancy of R&D Center Facilities,

16. History of DCAS, 1961, Jun 1962.

18. Ibid; rpt, DCAS Facilities, Los Angeles Area, 16 Feb 1962,
prepared by DCAS. ' .

19. Rpt, DCAS Facilities, 16 Feb 1962.

20. Memo for Record, Col R. O. Russell, Cmdr 65924 Support Wg,
DCAS, 11 Sep 1962, subj: Facility Plans_.. ' ) .

21. Ltr, LtGen H. M. Estes, Jr., Cmdr, DCAS, to Col R. O. Russell,
Cmdr, 6592d Support Wg, 21 Sep 1962, subj: Joint Air Force/Aerospace
Facilities Utilization'Planning Committee. _

22. Ltr, I. A. Getting, Pres, Aerospace Corp, to MajGen B. I. Funk,
Cmdr, SSD, 8 Oct 1962, no subj.

23. Msg, SCM 15-10-13, Hq AFSC to SSD, 15 Oct 1962.

24. Ltr, LtGen H. M. Estes, Jr., V/Cmdr, AFSC, to Hq USAF, 2 Nov
1962, subj: SSD/Aerospace Corporation Facilities Plan.

25. Ltr, BrigGen W. E. Leonhard, DCS Pro¢ and Matl, to LtGen H. M.
Estes, Jr., V/Cmdr, AFSC, 3 Nov 1962, subj: SSD/Aerospace Facilities
Plans. . _ g 4 : .

26. Rpt, Aerospace Submissions on Real Property, 14 Jul 1964,
prepared by Aerospace Corp; 1litr, I. A. Getting, Pres, Aerospace Corp,
to MajGen B. I. Funk, Cmdr, SSD, 27 Nov 1962, no subj; ltr, S. E. ‘
Skinner, Chmn, Bd of Trustees, Aerospace Corp, to E. M. Zuckert, SAF,
2 Nov 1962, no subj; ltr E. M. Zuckert, SAF, to S. E. Skinner, Chmn,
Bd of Trustees, Aerospace Corp, 8 Nov 1962, no subj.

217. Rpt, Aerospace Submission on Real Property, 14 Jul 1964, prepared

by Aerospace Corp; paper, Facilities Data, Aug 1964, prepared by
Aerospace Corp. . )
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AFB
AFBMD
AFSC
AMC
ARDC
Asst

Bd
BMC
BMD

BMO
Brig
BSD

Ch

Cmdr
CofS
Col
Corp

DCAS
DCs
Dep
Dir
Div

Gen
GMRD

Ltr

GLOSSARY OF ABBREVIATIONS

Air Force Bage

Air Force Ballistic Missile Division

Air Force Systems Command

Air Materiel Command

Air Research and Development Command
Assgisgtant

Board

Ballistic Missiles Center

Ballistic Missile Division (Air Force Ballistic Missile
Division) : :

Ballistic Misgiles Office

Brigadier :

Ballistic Systems Division

Chief
Chairman
Commander
Chief of Staff
Colonel
Corporation

Deputy Commander for Aerospace Systems, Air Force
Systems Command '

Deputy Chief of Staff

Deputy

Director

Division

General

Guided Missiles Research Division (of Ramo- Wooldridge
Corporation)

Group

General Services Administration

Headquarters

Lieutenant
Letter
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Maj
Matl
Memo
Mgmt
Msg
Msl

Ofc
Opns
Ord
OSsD

. Pres

Proc

R&D
Rpt

SAC/MIKE
SAF
SATAF
Sec

SSD

STL

Subj

Sys

USAF
V/Cmdr

Major
Materiel

Memorandum
Management

Message
Missile
Office

Operations
Order

Office of the Secretéry of Defense

President

Procurement

Report

Asgsistant Comménder in Chief,

. Research and Deveiopment

Secretary of the Air Force
Site Activation Task Force

Secretary

Space Systems Division

Space Technolo

Subject
Systems

gy Laboratories

United States Aijr Force

Vice Commander

Wing
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